THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Post Conviction Relief

SEP 24 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Honorable Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge

App. Case No. 2017-002002

Rashaun Jamine Sobers,

Petitioner,

vs.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR WRIT
OF CERTIORARI

Tricia A. Blanchette
Post Office Box 2147
Leesville, SC 29070
(803) 908-3266
Attorney for Petitioner

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

- I. The lower court erred by failing to grant a new trial due to counsel's handling of the gang evidence and testimony at trial.

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

During the November 2009 term of the Spartanburg County Grand Jury, Petitioner was indicted for murder (2009-GS-42-6427). App. p. 603. On September 7, 2010, a trial was convened at the Spartanburg County Courthouse in front of the Honorable J. Derham Cole. Petitioner was represented by N. Douglas Brannon, Esquire, Timothy Ryan Langley, Esquire, and the late Brac H. Turnipseed, Esquire. Harold W. Gowdy, III, Esquire, and Barry J. Barnette, Esquire, represented the State. On September 9, 2010, Petitioner was found guilty as indicted. Judge Cole sentenced Petitioner to imprisonment for a term of life. App. p. 605.

A notice of appeal was timely filed, and Robert M. Dudek, Esquire, perfected the appeal. The South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed the conviction and sentence. State v. Sobers, Op. No. 5146 (filed June 26, 2013). App. p. 658. The Remittitur was issued on July 15, 2013.

On February 24, 2014, Petitioner filed an Application for Post Conviction Relief. App. p. 664. A Return was filed on September 10, 2014. App. p. 682.

On August 12, 2016, Petitioner filed an amendment alleging ineffective assistance of trial and appellate counsel as follows:

1. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failure to conduct a reasonable investigation prior to trial.
2. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for the handling of the motion to dismiss related to and the admissibility of the video evidence obtained from the State's witness's phone.

3. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failure to present a reasonable defense at trial.
4. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failure to properly prepare Applicant to testify both in camera and in front of the jury at trial.
 - a. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failure to utilize Applicant's testimony at the Jackson v. Denno hearing and during the in camera hearing regarding the gang testimony and evidence.
 - b. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failure to properly prepare and utilize Applicant while on the stand at trial.
5. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failure to utilize witnesses and/or request a continuance to locate all necessary witnesses.
6. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel related to matters concerning the testimony and evidence related to gang activity and/or gang affiliation of the victim and the State's witnesses, including but not limited to:
 - a. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failure to obtain a duly qualified expert to assist both pre-trial and during the trial on matters related to gang affiliation, evidence of gang activity and the specific evidence and/or testimony in the case at hand.
 - b. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failure to properly prepare Applicant to testify to matters related to his knowledge of the gang activity and gang affiliation as it related to self-defense.
 - c. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failure to make the use of the term "gang" or the testimony and evidence regarding gang activity and gang affiliation relevant through the in camera or direct testimony of Applicant. Specifically, failure to establish that Applicant was "more fearful because the mob was part of a gang," as held by the South Carolina Court of Appeals.
7. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failure to object to the Court's opening comments to the jury and closing charge. Transcript p. 90, lines 16-21, 561, lns. 16-20, 568, lns. 14-18. See State v. Daniels, 401 S.C. 251, 737 S.E.2d 473 (2012).
8. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failure to fully cross-examine and impeach the State's witnesses.
9. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failure to request all reasonable jury charges in favor of the defense.

10. Ineffective assistance of appellate counsel for failure to raise all meritorious issues on appeal.

- a. Motion for Dismissal regarding the phone video evidence. Transcript pp. 45-55.
- b. Objection to burden shifting during the State's closing argument. Transcript pp. 551-2.

App. p. 688.

Petitioner filed an additional amendment on September 8, 2016, which alleged:

1. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failure to object to the State's closing argument.

App. p. 690.

On June 27, 2017, an evidentiary hearing was convened at the Spartanburg County Courthouse in front of the Honorable Robin B. Stilwell. Petitioner was present and represented by Tricia A. Blanchette, Esquire. Respondent was represented by Valerie G. Giovanoli, Assistant Attorney General. Petitioner testified and called Dr. Marjie T. Britz and N. Douglas Brannon, Esquire, to the stand. Respondent called Barry J. Barnette, Esquire, to the stand. The court had before him a copy of the Spartanburg County Clerk of Court's records, the records from the South Carolina Department of Corrections, appellate records, post conviction filings, Petitioner's exhibits 1-12, and Respondent's exhibit 1.

At the conclusion of the evidentiary hearing, the court took the matter under advisement. Thereafter, the court requested that the State submit a proposed Order. An Order of Dismissal with Prejudice was signed on August 2, 2017 and filed on August 7, 2017. App. p. 853. Thereafter, Petitioner timely filed a Motion, pursuant to Rule 59, South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. App. p. 882. An Order denying Petitioner's Motion was signed on August 29, 2017. App. p. 886.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In a Post Conviction Relief Appeal, great deference is given to the lower court's findings of fact but deference is not given to conclusions of law.¹ The existence of "any evidence" of probative value is sufficient to uphold the lower court's ruling on findings of fact. Webb v. State, 281 S.C. 237, 314 S.E.2d 839 (1984). Questions of law are reviewed *de novo*, and the appellate court "will reverse the decision of the PCR court when it is controlled by an error of law." Goins v. State, 397 S.C. 568, 573, 726 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2012).

ARGUMENT

The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution guarantee criminal defendants the right to the effective assistance of counsel. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). Where an application for post conviction relief alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, the applicant must prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied

¹ Recently, in Smalls v. State, 810 S.E.2d 836 (2018), this Court held: "In numerous cases, this Court has incorrectly stated an appellate court "gives great deference to the PCR court's . . . conclusions of law." See, e.g., Porter v. State, 368 S.C. 378, 383, 629 S.E.2d 353, 356 (2006). The court of appeals repeated our misstatement, quoting Porter. Smalls, 415 S.C. at 496, 783 S.E.2d at 820. We clarify that appellate courts review questions of law *de novo*, with no deference to trial courts. While we uphold the analysis and result of the following decisions, we now direct that none of these decisions should be read to suggest an appellate court gives any deference to a PCR court's conclusions of law: Gonzales v. State, 419 S.C. 2, 10, 795 S.E.2d 835, 839 (2017); Gibbs v. State, 416 S.C. 209, 218, 785 S.E.2d 455, 459 (2016); McHam v. State, 404 S.C. 465, 473, 746 S.E.2d 41, 45 (2013); Hyman v. State, 397 S.C. 35, 42, 723 S.E.2d 375, 378 (2012); Holden v. State, 393 S.C. 565, 573, 713 S.E.2d 611, 615 (2011); Edwards v. State, 392 S.C. 449, 455, 710 S.E.2d 60, 64 (2011); Robinson v. State, 387 S.C. 568, 574, 693 S.E.2d 402, 405 (2010); Kolle v. State, 386 S.C. 578, 589, 690 S.E.2d 73, 79 (2010); Terry v. State, 383 S.C. 361, 371, 680 S.E.2d 277, 282 (2009); Jones v. State, 382 S.C. 589, 595, 677 S.E.2d 20, 23 (2009); Davie v. State, 381 S.C. 601, 608, 675 S.E.2d 416, 420 (2009); Miller v. State, 379 S.C. 108, 115, 665 S.E.2d 596, 599 (2008); Lomax v. State, 379 S.C. 93, 100, 665 S.E.2d 164, 167 (2008); Harris v. State, 377 S.C. 66, 73, 659 S.E.2d 140, 144 (2008); Lorenzen v. State, 376 S.C. 521, 529, 657 S.E.2d 771, 776 (2008); Smith v. State, 375 S.C. 507, 515, 654 S.E.2d 523, 528 (2007); Watson v. State, 370 S.C. 68, 71, 634 S.E.2d 642, 643 (2006); Porter, 368 S.C. at 383, 629 S.E.2d at 356; Simpson v. Moore, 367 S.C. 587, 595, 627 S.E.2d 701, 705 (2006); Bright v. State, 365 S.C. 355, 358, 618 S.E.2d 296, 298 (2005); Winns v. State, 363 S.C. 414, 417, 611 S.E.2d 901, 903 (2005); Dempsey v. State, 363 S.C. 365, 368, 610 S.E.2d 812, 814 (2005); Sellers v. State, 362 S.C. 182, 187, 607 S.E.2d 82, 84 (2005); Magazine v. State, 361 S.C. 610, 615, 606 S.E.2d 761, 763 (2004); Huggler v. State, 360 S.C. 627, 632, 602 S.E.2d 753, 756 (2004); Green v. State, 351 S.C. 184, 192, 569 S.E.2d 318, 322 (2002); Caprood v. State, 338 S.C. 103, 109, 525 S.E.2d 514, 517 (2000)."

upon as having produced a just result." Id. 466 U.S. at 686; see Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441 (1985). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. The courts presume that counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 691. The applicant must overcome this presumption in order to receive relief. Bell v. State, 321 S.C. 238 (1996); see also Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 238 (1989); Rule 71.1(e), SCRCP.

The reviewing court applies a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. First, the applicant must prove that counsel's performance was deficient. Under this prong, the court measures an attorney's performance by its "reasonableness under prevailing professional norms." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117 (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688). Second, counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced the applicant such that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117–18.

- I. The lower court erred by failing to grant a new trial due to counsel's handling of the gang evidence and testimony at trial.

Towards the beginning of trial, a motion hearing was conducted regarding the State's motion to suppress testimony and evidence regarding gang activity. App. pp. 69-79. The defense indicated that they had only received the motion a couple of minutes ago, and one member of the defense team was going to pull case law. App. p. 69. In response, the State explained that the motion had been prepared over the lunch period since the defense had shared some pictures from Facebook a couple of minutes ago. App. pp. 69-70. The defense explained that they intended to question every lay witness about photos with gang symbols.

explained that they intended to question every lay witness about photos with gang symbols. App. p. 71. Thereafter, the parties and the court undertook a discussion regarding the relevancy of the evidence in question. App. pp. 71-77. After the lengthy discussion, the court found that he would revisit the matter. Specifically, he reasoned: “I just haven’t understood the relevance as of yet. But, as I say, you will have the opportunity to present your case. And if it needs to be taken up outside the presence of the jury, we’ll do so, and I’ll rule on it.” App. pp. 78-81, 79, lns. 3-6.

After the testimony of Phoenix Fielder, defense counsel argued that he needed to be able to cross-examine witnesses on gang activity. App. p. 157, lns. 5-8. Again, the trial court ruled that the defense was not permitted to address gang activity until relevancy was established. App. p. 157. In response, defense counsel argued that the Sixth Amendment gives a defendant the right to confront witnesses; therefore, he needed the opportunity to fully confront the witnesses. App. p.158. The trial court responded: “You get to confront them all you want to, but you don’t get to ask witnesses questions that are not relevant to the case. Those are the rules of evidence.” App. p. 158, lns. 5-7.

When Petitioner took the stand, he described a crowd of people that ran to his car following the fight captured on cell phone video, involving the victim and another individual. He described how “Trey” tried to forcibly remove him from his car, hearing his doors being opened, being scared, firing his gun, and “just trying to get away.” App. p. 344, ln. 116 – p. 346, ln. 3. Defense counsel asked Petitioner about the number in the mob or crowd, and Petitioner responded that he did not know the number in the crowd. App. p. 350, ln 16. Petitioner attempted to try to point out the mob in video. App. p. 371. During re-cross

examination, Petitioner was extensively questioned regarding omission of the “angry mob” from the sketch and initial story. App. pp. 401-4.

After the jury was sent out, Rocky R. Watts was proffered as an expert by the defense. Mr. Watts offered his qualifications, which included sixteen years in the Greenville County Sherriff’s Department and his current position as owner of Surveillance Resource and Investigations. App. p. 431. He detailed his gang training with law enforcement and an independent study he had conducted on gangs. App. pp. 433, 435, 437. He admitted that he had not previously been qualified or attempted to be qualified as an expert in gang activity. App. p. 436, ln. 23 – p. 437, ln. 5. He further testified that he had not authored or contributed to any published works regarding gangs nor taken or taught any courses. App. pp. 440.1. He also conceded that he did not have any special certifications in gang activity. App. p. 439, ln. 24 – p. 440, ln. 1.

Thereafter, counsel made brief argument in support of Mr. Watts being qualified as an expert. App. pp. 441-2. In response the court ruled:

Well, having considered the testimony of the witness, I do not find that there has been established by his testimony sufficient education, training, experience or otherwise certification that would qualify him to be an expert in the field of whatever gang activity is. I’m not certain what you’re trying to elicit by way of testimony as to his – what you consider to be his expertise.

But I’m going to allow you to proffer his testimony. But I do not find based upon the testimony provided that he should be qualified as an expert in that field.

App. p. 442, lns. 3-13.

Following the court’s ruling, defense counsel proffered the testimony of Mr. Watts. He testified that he conducted an investigation, canvassed the area, and determined that gang activity was present. App. p. 443. He identified photos pulled off Facebook and explained

how he gained access to Trey Gentry's Facebook page. App. p. 445, 447. From the pictures, he identified gang signs (N.S.G. and S.S.G.) App. p. 449. He opined that Quita, Ricky, Trey Gentry and victim are/were gang members and that northside and southside gangs are one in the same. App. pp. 451-2.

After the court inquired if there was additional proffer to be made, counsel called four additional witnesses to the stand. App. p. 452.

During his proffered testimony, Travoris Gentry (Trey) identified the Facebook picture with Jay Red "throwing stuff up." App. p. 454. When asked what that meant, he replied: "We's just going like that. I don't really know." App. p. 454, lns. 4-9. When asked about the initials appearing on the pictures, he responded that he is not a gang member, and the initials are where his people are from. App. p. 455. He admitted that some of his people are in a gang, but none of the one hundred fifty to two hundred people present were in a gang. App. p. 456, 459.

When called for his proffered testimony, Ricky Smith acknowledged that he was throwing up north side signs in the picture with Jay Red. App. p. 461. He admitted it is a gang symbol. App. p. 462. He testified that Trey was throwing up south side in the Facebook picture. App. p. 463. He also testified that the letters on the Facebook photographs stand for southside and northside gangs. App.p. 464. He identified pictures of the victim doing northside signs and Quita doing southside signs. App. pp. 466-7. He admitted that they were all there and "throwing up signs" the night the victim died. App. p. 467. He testified that he is not in a gang, but he agreed people in gangs throw up signs. App. p. 468.

During Quita Gentry's proffered testimony, she said the photos depicted her communicating with her hands. App. p. 469. She testified that she does not know what NSG or SSG stands for. App. p. 470.

When Joshua Fuller was called to the stand, he admitted that he goes by the name "Jay Red," and he identified the Facebook picture of him with his father's hand guns. App. p. 473. He explained that they were just posing in pictures since they were all kin. App. p. 474. When asked about the initials appearing in the pictures, he responded that he did not know what the initials meant. App. p. 475.

After offering the proffered testimony, the defense argued in support of the admission of the testimony and expert. App. 479. Counsel argued: "Any evidence that can reasonably be linked or legitimately tending to support Mr. Sobers' theory of self-defense is admissible. And this certainly goes to show his fear at the time." App. p. 480, lns. 407. Thereafter, the court ruled Mr. Watts not sufficiently qualified. App. p. 480. He further found that the witnesses were all members of different gangs or the same gang now, but there was no connection to what happened on April 21, 2009. App. p. 481.

While waiting for a witness, Phoenix Fielder was recalled for further proffered testimony. App. p. 483. When asked about the signs in the photographs, he explained that they were merely throwing up signs for side of town they are from, but the signs were also gang signs. App. p. 485. He explained that the letters stand for and that the people in the pictures (Quey, Quita, Trey and Ricky) are kind of "gangsters." App. p. 486. Then, he retracted and said they are not in a gang. App. p. 487. He later admitted that he is also sort of a "gangsta," in that he just reps for his side of town. App. p. 489.

Defense counsel offered further argument and requested the opportunity to recall Mr. Watts. App. p. 492. The court found that Mr. Fielder's testimony did not alter his prior ruling and denied the request to recall Mr. Watts. App. p. 492.

In closing, the State argued that only Petitioner stated there was a mob. App. p. 545, In. 19. The State further argued that you must believe there was a "mob" to believe self-defense. App. p. 558, Ins. 4-5. The State reiterated that the only shred of evidence regarding a mob came from Petitioner. App. pp. 550-51.

After the jury returned a guilty verdict, an appeal was perfected by the Robert M. Dudek, Chief Appellate Defender for the Office of Appellate Defense. The following issues were briefed:

1. The court erred by excluding the testimony of Travoiris Gentry, Ricky Smith, Quitha Gentry, Joshua Fuller, and Phoenix Fielder about gangs and gang signs being made at the scene of the shooting since this was relevant to appellant's self-defense case because appellant's fear, his apprehension, and his state of mind at the time he fired the gun was affected by the fact of gang involvement.
2. The court erred by refusing to allow former veteran Greenville County Narcotics Officer rocky Watts to testify as an expert witness, where he was qualified by experience and education and his testimony that gangs typically now videotape their gang activity and that he was familiar with the north side gang and the south side gangs after his investigation since this evidence was relevant and probative in this case.

App. p. 607.

In response the State argued:

1. The trial judge did not abuse his discretion in barring defense evidence suggesting gang associations of the victim and witnesses as irrelevant where no witness ever testified to, nor did any evidence otherwise suggest, a gang related aspect of the fatal shooting.
2. Appellant's issue two – that the trial judge abused his discretion in finding Mr. Watts was not qualified as an expert in gang activity – need not be addressed where the defense failed to show the substance of the proffered evidence of gang associations or activity was relevant and admissible. At any rate, Mr. Watts candidly testified that he

did not have specialized training or experience in gang activity. Therefore, the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in declining to qualify Mr. Watts as an expert.

App. p. 629.

As to the first issue raised on appeal, the South Carolina Court of Appeals held:

We find the trial court did not abuse his discretion in finding the evidence suggesting gang associations of the victim and witnesses was not relevant. We note that although the trial court left open the possibility Sobers could offer gang evidence if he could establish the requisite relevancy, Sobers never testified the mob that surrounded his car was part of a gang. According to Sobers, the mob action caused him to fear for his life and fire his gun, but he never testified that he was more fearful because the mob was part of a gang. Thus, Sobers never introduced evidence that would make gang activity more relevant.

App. p. 662.

Regarding the second issue involving the qualification of Mr. Watts, the Court of Appeals found: “Based upon our decision to affirm the trial court’s exclusion of testimony regarding gang activity, we need not address this argument.” App. p. 663.

Thereafter, Petitioner filed an Application for Post Conviction Relief and via Amendment alleged:

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