STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

JAN 22 2019

CERTIORARI TO SPARTANBURG COUNTY S.C. SUPREME COURT
Court of Common Pleas
Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-002002

RASHAUN JAMINE SOBERS,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN
S.C. Bar No. 8729
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3305

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

Petitioner then testified on his own behalf. He said Counsel never told him he needed to testify he knew these were gang members, and that this knowledge is what put him in fear of his life, but Petitioner explained this was because he and Counsel believed the pictures would speak for themselves. Petitioner then confirmed Counsel's primary directive in regard to all of his testimony was to tell the truth and not lie. Petitioner testified his fear during the incident came

from the fact that the people in the mob were known gang members and he knew what they were capable of; however, he then testified that what really put him in fear was being “ambushed from the opposite side” and the fact that the attackers were not letting the prior incident with Trey’s sister go. (App.p.798-p.826). With prompting from PCR counsel, Petitioner again testified his fear was connected to his knowledge the attackers were gang members and the fight he had just witnessed. (App.p.827-p.828). On cross-examination, however, Petitioner acknowledged it was the bad blood between himself and Trey that led Trey to attack him, and that he got scared and pulled out his gun when the crowd rushed in to assist Trey. He testified he was scared of the crowd itself, but this time did not say he was more scared of that crowd because the members of that crowd were in a gang. (App.p.832-p.836). This is likely because, as revealed by Counsel, the only reason to dub the crowd a “gang” would be to try to reap the improper benefit of the “negative connotation” that comes from the word.

After hearing arguments from both parties on the claims of ineffective assistance of trial counsel, ineffective assistance of appellate counsel, and denial of due process, the PCR court took the case under advisement. (App.p.843-p.851). In an Order of Dismissal dated August 2, 2017, and filed August 7, 2017, Judge Stilwell denied and dismissed Petitioner’s PCR Application with prejudice. The PCR court grouped Petitioner’s allegations of ineffective assistance of trial counsel into those involving: (1) “gang evidence,” (2) counsel’s “failure to object,” (3) counsel’s “trial preparation,” and (4) counsel’s “trial performance,” and addressed the individual allegations, finding each to be without merit. The PCR court also addressed Petitioner’s allegations of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel. Ultimately, the PCR court concluded: “[Petitioner] has failed to prove any deficiencies on the part of trial or appellate

counsel and further, [Petitioner] has failed to prove any prejudice from any alleged deficiencies . . .” It held: “Therefore, as Applicant has failed to meet his burden of proof in this post-conviction relief action, his application is denied and dismissed with prejudice. . . . Based on all of the foregoing, this Court finds and concludes that [Petitioner] has not established any violations that would require the Court to grant his application.” (App.p.853-p.881).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review in post-conviction relief cases depends on the specific issue before the reviewing court. It will defer to a post-conviction relief court’s findings of fact and will uphold them if there is evidence in the record to support them; but will review questions of law *de novo*, with no deference to trial courts. *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 180-81, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839-40 (2018). In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. *State v. Broadnax*, 414 S.C. 468, 473, 779 S.E.2d 789, 791 (2015). The admission or exclusion of evidence is left to the sound discretion of the trial court, whose decision will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion. *Id.*; *State v. Morris*, 376 S.C. 189, 205-06, 656 S.E.2d 359, 368 (2008); *State v. Howard*, 396 S.C. 173, 177, 720 S.E.2d 511; 514 (Ct. App. 2011) An abuse of discretion occurs when the ruling is based on an error of law or a factual conclusion that is without evidentiary support. *State v. Meggett*, 398 S.C. 516, 523, 728 S.E.2d 492, 496 (Ct. App. 2012); *Howard* at 178, 720 S.E.2d at 514. To warrant reversal based on the admission or exclusion of evidence, the complaining party must prove both the error of the ruling and the resulting prejudice. *Vaught v. A.O. Hardee & Sons, Inc.*, 366 S.C. 475, 480, 623 S.E.2d 373, 375 (2005); *Howard* at 178, 720 S.E.2d at 514.

ARGUMENT

The post-conviction relief court properly denied relief on grounds that Petitioner: (1) failed to prove any deficiency on the part of trial counsel in his handling of excluded “gang” evidence and testimony at trial and (2) failed to prove any prejudice from the alleged deficiency, because Petitioner offered no credible evidence to establish the relevancy of such “gang” evidence and because Counsel acknowledged his underlying purpose in seeking admission of “gang” evidence was to attack the character of the victim and State’s witnesses by utilizing the negative connotation of the term “gang.”

Petitioner asserts the PCR court erred in finding Counsel was not ineffective in his handling of the “gang” evidence and testimony at trial, and therefore the PCR court erred in failing to grant a new trial. (Petition, p.5). Specifically, he complains Counsel failed to establish Petitioner was more fearful because the mob was part of a gang, because Counsel did not proffer Petitioner’s testimony in this regard. Petitioner argues Counsel’s deficiency unfairly removed the “gang element” from Petitioner’s defense in a case Counsel opined “hinged on the gang activity involvement in the case.” (Petition, p.22). The State disagrees and submits Petitioner’s argument should be rejected for a number of reasons. First and foremost, the PCR court’s ruling is supported by probative evidence in the record and therefore, certiorari should be denied.

In a post-conviction relief action, the Applicant has the burden of proving the allegations in his or her application. Rule 71.1(e), SCRPC; *Caprood v. State*, 338 S.C. 103, 109, 525 S.E.2d 514, 517 (2000); *Butler v. State*, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985). When an Applicant alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, he or she must prove that “counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result.” *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984); *Butler*, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814. The proper measure of performance

is whether an attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. “There is a strong presumption that counsel rendered adequate assistance and exercised reasonable professional judgment in making all significant decisions in the case.” *Ard v. Catoe*, 372 S.C. 318, 331, 642 S.E.2d 590, 596 (2007). An Applicant must overcome this presumption in order to receive relief. *Cherry*, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624. Judicial scrutiny of counsel’s performance must be highly deferential, as it is all too tempting for a defendant to second guess counsel’s assistance after conviction or adverse sentence, and it is all too easy for a court, examining counsel’s defense after it has proved unsuccessful, to conclude that a particular act or omission of counsel was unreasonable. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689. In assessing counsel’s performance, counsel’s decisions must be evaluated at the time in which they were made and “every effort [must] be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight.” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689. Accordingly, courts must be wary of second-guessing counsel’s tactics. *Whitehead v. State*, 308 S.C. 119, 122, 417 S.E.2d 529, 531 (1992).

Courts use a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. First, the Applicant must prove counsel’s performance was deficient. Under this prong, attorney performance is measured by its “reasonableness under professional norms.” *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 117, 385 S.E.2d at 625 (citing *Strickland*). Second, counsel’s deficient performance must have prejudiced the Applicant such that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. The standards do not establish mechanical rules; the ultimate focus of inquiry must be on the fundamental fairness of the proceeding whose result is being challenged. A court need not first determine whether counsel’s performance was deficient

before examining the prejudice suffered by the defendant as a result of the alleged deficiencies. If it is easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice, that course should be followed. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. 668.

Moreover, *Strickland* does not require a finding of ineffectiveness merely for deviation from some rigid rule of representation. Rather, *Strickland* requires the post-conviction relief Applicant to prove “counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the ‘counsel’ guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment.” *Id.* at 697. Therefore, the function of the post-conviction relief court is to determine if “in light of all the circumstances, the identified acts or omissions were outside *the wide range* of professional competent assistance” required of a criminal defense attorney.” *Id.* at 690 (emphasis added).

Here, the PCR court found Petitioner failed to meet his burden in proving Counsel was deficient or that he was prejudiced by any deficiency. This finding was supported by ample evidence in the record. Counsel testified he had been instructed multiple times by the trial judge that he was not permitted to say or elicit from a witness the word “gang” before the jury and doing so would result in a mistrial. Under this order, it was reasonable for Counsel to advise his client to use the word “mob” in lieu of “gang” during his testimony, especially where Petitioner’s alleged fear emanated from being attacked by a crowd, not what that crowd was called. Counsel was not deficient in this regard. Furthermore, the PCR court disagreed with Petitioner’s assertion that membership in a gang would have strengthened his testimony in support of self-defense that he was attacked by a mob of people, despite Counsel’s opinion to the contrary. The jury was presented with evidence that:

- After firing his gun, Petitioner immediately fled the scene of the shooting, never calling 911.
- Petitioner fled South Carolina to Charlotte, North Carolina.
- Petitioner claimed he lost his cell phone at the scene of the shooting. Petitioner's phone was turned off and never located after a search of the scene. Petitioner did not help law enforcement locate the phone either.
- Petitioner testified that he used the phone of a friend's neighbor to call his friend after the shooting. Petitioner did not know the name of the owner of the phone he used. Therefore, law enforcement did not have the ability to corroborate this story with phone records.
- Petitioner did not know the name of the two men who he claimed chauffeured him to Charlotte, North Carolina. Nor did he remember what kind of car he rode in to North Carolina.
- Petitioner testified he turned himself in, but was impeached during cross examination based on the fact that the US Marshall Service and Spartanburg County Police went to North Carolina, found and arrested him on the street.
- Petitioner testified he threw the murder weapon out the window of his friend's uncle's car somewhere in Charlotte, North Carolina. However, he never helped law enforcement locate it or show them where he threw it out.
- Petitioner testified that he left his car, from which he fired the fatal shot, in a restaurant parking lot with the keys in the ignition. The car was found by law enforcement in a desolate power line field, abandoned with no license plate. Petitioner testified that he assumed someone stole it and took it to the field, however, the only thing missing from his abandoned car was the license plate and not his aftermarket stereo or 22" chrome rims.
- Petitioner gave an inconsistent statement to law enforcement following his arrest. At the time of the statement, Petitioner instructed the investigator to draw a diagram of the scene to his specifications. When the investigator began to ask why his story and diagram did not match the evidence, Petitioner requested an attorney.
- Petitioner's first story to law enforcement was that Trey attacked him with a gun and the gun accidentally went off.
- At trial, Petitioner testified that a "mob" attacked him so he reached for his illegally purchased gun and fired through his passenger door, which had been opened by a member of the mob. The bullet did not hit a member of the mob that presumably would have been coming into the passenger side or around his vehicle, but travelled out his passenger side door, across the cul-de-sac, into the car in which the victim sat and into the victim's head.
- Petitioner claimed his friend, Greg ***** (Little Greg) was there and had witnessed everything. However, Little Greg, could not be located to testify at trial.²

² Likewise, Little Greg could not be located to testify at the PCR hearing.

- Petitioner admitted, numerous times, that he lied to law enforcement to avoid going to jail.
- Petitioner testified the victim accompanied Trey in approaching his vehicle to confront Petitioner about calling Trey's sister a bad name. Thereafter, the two walked away and the victim proceeded to have a physical fight with another boy. Petitioner testified he was not part of this other fight. Petitioner claimed the same mob surrounding the fight then attacked his car as Trey tried to pull him out of his car. However, the victim, who showed a propensity for violence in confronting Petitioner the first time and engaging in a physical fight with someone else, then went back to sit in the car while the rest of mob attacked Petitioner.
- Six eye-witnesses testified Petitioner shot at the car in which the victim sat with no provocation. Petitioner was the only person who testified he reacted in self-defense from an attack.

Petitioner's self-defense claim as a whole was simply not credible. Petitioner failed to prove how presenting evidence that the members of the alleged mob were in a gang would have made his self-defense story more credible. Petitioner asserts that the gang membership strengthened the reasonableness of his fear of being attacked, however, as properly found by the PCR court, this argument is not persuasive. The claimed mob attack was determined to not be credible, regardless of gang membership or affiliation. Petitioner failed to prove prejudice resulting from any alleged deficiency.

The PCR court noted that not only was Counsel not deficient in his attempts to admit gang evidence, he scrupulously attempted to admit gang evidence on three separate occasions during the trial even though he did so on an improper basis due to the "negative connotation" that comes with the word "gang." First, Counsel made a pre-trial argument for admitting evidence of gang activity. (App.p.71-p.81). Second, on the following day, Counsel submitted a "Memo in Opposition to the State's Motion in Limine Regarding Gang Activity and Specific

Instances of Gang Character Evidence of the Victim”³ with supporting case law and a brief argument to the trial court. (App.p.157-p.158). Third, Counsel requested an *in camera* hearing in which he proffered the testimony of six witnesses, including an attempt to qualify a very qualified witness as an expert in gangs, and further argued for the admission of gang evidence. (App.p.430-p.492). The PCR court found Counsel fought long and hard on this issue and went above and beyond the representation that is minimally required of a criminal defense attorney. Evidence supports this finding.

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